RECEIVED

Sep 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Charles J. McCutchen, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge
Civil Action No. 2025-CP-08-00820

Appellate Case No. 2026-000301

Richard Kenneth Weatherford, Jr., Respondent,

v.

Timothy James Davidson, Defendant, and Progressive Direct Insurance Company, Third Party

of which Progressive Direct Insurance Company is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT PROGRESSIVE DIRECT INSURANCE COMPANY

MURPHY & GRANTLAND, P.A.

Jay Thompson, Esquire, S.C. Bar No. 75030

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in finding that an insurance carrier's claim log notes created after Respondent's legal counsel sent a *Tyger River* settlement demand letter stating the intention to file a lawsuit against both the insured driver in a motor vehicle accident and against the insurance carrier itself if the carrier did not tender its full insurance policy limits were not created in anticipation of litigation and in ordering the non-party insurance carrier to produce those claim log notes created after the threat of litigation?
- II. Did the Circuit Court err in ordering a non-party insurance carrier to produce information from its insurance claim log notes pertaining only to insurance coverage analysis and loss reserves in response to a subpoena in a personal injury lawsuit where the carrier issued a policy of insurance to the defendant?
- III. Did the Circuit Court err in ordering a non-party insurance carrier to produce information redacted from its insurance claim log notes without reviewing the redacted information to assess whether it was properly withheld from production?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal calls upon the Court to address whether it is reasonable for an insurance carrier to anticipate litigation when a lawyer representing an opposing claimant sends a letter telling the insurance carrier it should anticipate litigation. The issues on appeal arise from a discovery dispute involving a subpoena *duces tecum* issued by Respondent Richard Weatherford to non-party Progressive Direct Insurance Company ("Progressive Direct"). Specifically, the discovery dispute pertains to Progressive Direct redacting certain limited information from production as protected work product created in anticipation of litigation and certain proprietary information as not relevant to the subject matter of the underlying lawsuit.

The underlying personal injury lawsuit involves a motor vehicle collision between Respondent and Defendant Timothy Davidson. Progressive Direct is Davidson's automobile liability insurance carrier. Three weeks before filing the lawsuit, Respondent sent a *Tyger River* settlement demand letter to Progressive Direct, demanding that Progressive Direct tender its full insurance policy limits by a specified date, and specifically warning that Respondent would sue

both Davidson and Progressive Direct itself if Progressive Direct did not comply with the demand. Progressive Direct evaluated the claim and determined that a policy limits settlement was not warranted at that time. Respondent followed through on the stated intention and filed this lawsuit on the date stated in the litigation demand letter.

Eleven days after filing the Complaint, Respondent served a subpoena *duces tecum* on Progressive Direct. The subpoena commanded Progressive Direct to produce its entire insurance claim file related to the motor vehicle collision created in the ordinary course of business, prior to Progressive Direct's retention of legal counsel. It specifically allowed for Progressive Direct to redact "notes, comments, writings, remarks, or other writings/materials contained therein which represent subjective mental impressions, analysis, opinions, evaluations, and/or financial evaluations and reserves setting of Progressive Direct Insurance Company and/or its legal counsel." Progressive Direct complied by timely producing a copy of its entire claim file in response to the subpoena, except it redacted claim log notes entered after Progressive Direct received the litigation demand letter, as these notes were created in anticipation of the threatened litigation. Additionally, Progressive Direct redacted claim log notes related to insurance coverage analysis and loss reserves, as these notes pertain only to the insurance carrier's coverage investigation and are not relevant to the subject matter of the pending lawsuit – a motor vehicle collision. Progressive Direct provided a privilege log with its production, describing all redacted information. Nothing else was withheld from production—only the redactions from the claim log.

Alleging the response to be incomplete, Respondent filed a "Motion and Rule to Show Cause," arguing that both categories of redacted claim log notes should be produced. The Circuit Court granted Respondent's motion, ordering Progressive Direct to produce all claim log notes created after Respondent's letter threatening litigation and up to the day before Davidson filed an

Answer to Respondent’s Complaint – despite the fact that those materials were created by a liability insurer in anticipation of specifically threatened litigation. The Circuit Court also ordered Progressive Direct to produce the claim log notes related to insurance coverage and loss reserves – despite the facts that the subpoena specifically stated Progressive Direct could redact that information and that insurance coverage and loss reserves have no bearing on the subject matter of this motor vehicle collision case. The Circuit Court did not review any of the withheld claim log notes before concluding they were not protected work product created in anticipation of litigation and were subject to discovery.

Progressive Direct filed a motion to alter or amend the Circuit Court’s Order. The Circuit Court issued an Amended Order stating it “granted in part” Progressive Direct’s request for relief, although the Amended Order restated the same conclusions and again ordered Progressive Direct to produce the subject claim log notes. The Circuit Court again did not review any of the redacted claim log notes before concluding they were not protected work product prepared in anticipation of litigation – despite Progressive Direct’s request to do so.

Progressive Direct did not comply with the Circuit Court’s Orders. Respondent filed a Motion requesting that Progressive Direct be held in contempt of court. On January 28, 2026, the Circuit Court entered an Order holding Progressive Direct in contempt of court and awarding monetary sanctions. This appeal timely followed.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. Progressive Direct receives Respondent’s *Tyger River* demand letter threatening litigation.

On November 22, 2024, Respondent Richard Weatherford and Defendant Timothy Davidson were involved in a motor vehicle collision in Berkeley County, South Carolina. (R. p. 38). Respondent alleges that Davidson struck Respondent’s vehicle and left the scene of the

accident. (R. p. 39). As a result of the collision, Respondent submitted a claim under a personal automobile insurance policy issued by Progressive Direct to Davidson (the “Policy”). Shortly thereafter, in November 2024, Progressive Direct opened a claim file and began its investigation. (R. p. 61).

On February 17, 2025, Respondent sent a letter to Progressive Direct entitled TIME SENSITIVE OFFER OF SETTLEMENT TYGER RIVER HIT AND RUN (the “Litigation Demand Letter”). (R. pp. 63, 144-149). Progressive Direct received the Litigation Demand Letter on February 18, 2025. (R. p. 60). The Litigation Demand Letter demanded that Progressive Direct tender the full bodily injury and property damage liability coverage limits available under the Policy by March 10, 2025. (R. p. 148). The Litigation Demand Letter was replete with references to lawsuits and judgments and set out in unambiguous terms Respondent’s intentions to file both a lawsuit against Davidson and an insurance bad faith lawsuit against Progressive Direct should Progressive Direct not accept the terms of the demand. (R. pp. 144-149). Specifically, the Litigation Demand Letter stated:

Please understand that in making this offer, it is our intention that your client’s personal assets will not be exposed should a judgment award exceed the limits of his/her BI and PD liability coverage

. . .

Your failure to make this request in a timely manner will also be used as an example of bad faith in failing to properly evaluate this claim.

. . .

Finally, by agreeing to execute a Covenant Not To Execute, we are agreeing to protect your insured’s personal assets, but we are not agreeing to additional “indemnification” language or “confidentiality” provisions.

. . .

This correspondence is submitted pursuant to the holding set forth in *Tyger River Pine Co. v. Maryland Casualty Co.*, 161 SE 491, 163

229 (1931) (sic), its progeny, and SC Code Ann. 38-59-40 (Law. Co-op. 1987). Further this correspondence is submitted for settlement purposes only in this underlying claim, and for purposes of establishing the absence of good faith *in any subsequent proceedings.*

(R. pp. 148-149) (emphasis added).

For multiple pages, the Litigation Demand Letter threatened the likelihood of punitive damages against Progressive Direct's insured – which, of course, can only be obtained through litigation.

Despite sending a letter telling Progressive Direct it should anticipate litigation, Respondent contends Progressive Direct's claim log notes were not created in anticipation of litigation. However, upon receiving the Litigation Demand Letter, Progressive Direct transferred the claim handling from the adjuster who had been handling the claim to a different, litigation adjuster for further handling in anticipation of the forthcoming litigation. (R. p. 170). Progressive Direct did not accept the terms of Respondent's Litigation Demand Letter. (R. p. 48). As a result, on March 10, 2025 – the precise day stated in the Litigation Demand Letter – Respondent filed this lawsuit, one of the “subsequent proceedings” mentioned in the Litigation Demand Letter. (R. p. 31).

II. Respondent serves a subpoena *duces tecum*, and Progressive Direct produces every document in its claim file but redacts limited claim log notes created in anticipation of litigation and containing irrelevant, proprietary information that the subpoena specifically stated could be redacted.

On March 21, 2025 – eleven days after filing the lawsuit and multiple weeks before Davidson appeared in the lawsuit¹ – Respondent served a subpoena *duces tecum* (the “Subpoena”)

¹ Respondent did not comply with the requirement of Rule 45(a)(4) to serve a copy of the subpoena on Defendant Davidson before serving it on Progressive Direct.

on Progressive Direct through the South Carolina Department of Insurance. (R. pp. 53-57). The Subpoena commanded Progressive Direct to do the following by May 5, 2025:

Please produce a complete color copy of any and all investigative files, insurance files, claim handler files, videos, photographs, audio recordings, written statements, documents, records, notes, writings, and/or any other files/materials in your possession, custody, and/or control, or otherwise reasonably accessible to you, reflecting any and all facts, evidence, and/or investigation relating to or undertaken into the motor vehicle collision which occurred at S. Live Oak Drive and Lazy Hill Drive in Berkeley County on November 22, 2024 which serves as the subject of Progressive Direct Insurance Company's Claim #24-822889253, which was/were created, obtained, secured, identified, located or otherwise came into your possession, custody or control in the ordinary course of Progressive Direct Insurance Company's business and/or PRIOR TO Progressive Direct Insurance Company [sic] retention of counsel relative to this claim. This request should be construed as requesting production of any and all documents . . . prior to the retention of defense counsel for the defense of this claim (**and subject to the pre-production redaction of notes, comments, writings, remarks, or other writings/materials contained therein which represent subjective mental impressions, analysis, opinions, evaluations, and/or financial evaluations and reserves setting of Progressive Direct Insurance Company** and/or its legal counsel.)

(R. p. 57) (emphasis added).

On May 5, 2025, Progressive Direct, through counsel, responded to the Subpoena by sending a letter to Respondent's counsel (the "Subpoena Response Letter"), along with a link to Progressive Direct's production of documents. (R. pp. 59-67). The Subpoena Response Letter set forth an itemized list of every document produced in response to the Subpoena – approximately 715 pages making up Progressive Direct's *entire claim file* other than limited claim log notes redacted on the basis of protected work product or irrelevant, proprietary information. (R. pp. 60-64). Many of the documents were medical records provided to Progressive Direct by Respondent. (R. pp. 60-64). Additionally, the Subpoena Response Letter contained a detailed privilege log,

which described all redacted information and set forth the privilege(s) or protection(s) applicable to each redaction. (R. pp. 65-66).

Progressive Direct did not withhold a single document from production. The only information Progressive Direct redacted was two categories of claim log notes. (R. pp. 64-66). An insurance claim log is a digital record used to track the status, details, and history of an insurance claim, including substantive analyses and evaluations, consisting of chronological narrative entries by one or more claim representatives. (R. pp. 64-66). The two redacted categories were: (1) claim log notes concerning insurance coverage and/or reserves; and (2) claim log notes created after February 18, 2025, the day Progressive Direct received the Litigation Demand Letter and transferred the claim to a litigation adjuster for handling. (R. pp. 64-66). Progressive Direct clearly communicated its position with respect to these claim log notes:

[A]ny Claims Log notes referencing “coverage” have been redacted. This is not a coverage action, a bad faith action, nor is Progressive Direct a named party in this action. Therefore, any log notes relating to coverage are irrelevant to any claim or defense in this tort action and are withheld pursuant to Rule 26(b)(1), SCRCP, which limits the scope of discovery to “any matter, not privileged, *which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action . . .*”

. . . Progressive Direct **is not producing** its Claim Log notes after the date it received Richard Weatherford’s *Tyger River* Policy Limit Demand Letter, February 18, 2025. Any entries created on or after February 18, 2025 were prepared in anticipation and the likelihood that litigation would ensue in this matter.

(R. pp. 64, 66).

III. Respondent files a document titled “Motion and Rule to Show Cause,” requesting an Order requiring Progressive Direct to produce claim log notes created in anticipation of litigation and containing irrelevant, proprietary information.

On May 20, 2025, Respondent filed a document titled “Motion and Rule to Show Cause” (the “Show Cause Motion”) (R. pp. 48-51). The Show Cause Motion asked the Circuit Court to order Progressive Direct “to produce complete and unredacted claim file materials through the

date of the filing of this lawsuit, and for sanctions for failing to comply with a valid subpoena.” (R. p. 48). The Show Cause Motion specified that it did ***not*** seek to compel production of “subjective mental impressions, analyses, opinions, evaluations, and/or financial reserves setting,” ***which were the only things Progressive Direct withheld from production.*** (R. p. 51). Respondent argued that the two categories of claim log notes were “relevant to the central issues of the case” and that they were prepared in the “ordinary course of business,” rather than in anticipation of litigation, even though Respondent had stated its clear intention to file a lawsuit and followed through by actually filing the lawsuit. (R. pp. 71, 73).

Progressive Direct submitted a Response in Opposition to the Show Cause Motion, explaining that: (1) Progressive Direct properly redacted claim log notes concerning the insurance carrier’s coverage and loss reserves information because such information has no bearing on claims or defenses at issue in the lawsuit and, thus, falls outside the scope of permissible discovery under Rule 26(b)(1), SCRCF; and (2) claim log notes created after Progressive Direct received the Litigation Demand Letter were created in anticipation of litigation and appropriately withheld as protected work product under Rule 26(b)(3), SCRCF. (R. pp. 124-129)

The Circuit Court held a WebEx hearing on the Show Cause Motion on August 20, 2025. (R. p. 448). Progressive Direct reiterated the arguments set forth in its Response in Opposition – that insurance claim log notes concerning coverage and reserves are irrelevant and outside the scope of discovery and that claim log notes prepared after the carrier’s receipt of the Litigation Demand Letter are protected work product. (R. p. 456, line 7 - 464, line 13). In addition, Progressive Direct rebutted Respondent’s illogical argument that an insurance company cannot simultaneously anticipate litigation and continue to negotiate with a claimant:

And I’d also note that lawyers and parties to cases continue negotiating --- they negotiate presuit, during suit, at mediation, after

mediation, on the courthouse steps. But the idea that parties negotiating somehow obliterates work product protection flies in --- in the face of the rule”

(R. p. 467, lines 6-15).

On September 17, 2025, Progressive Direct filed a Notice of Supplemental Authority, informing the Circuit Court of a September 11, 2025 order in a similar case, which expressly adopted Progressive Direct’s argument that claim log notes prepared by an insurance company after it receives a litigation demand letter are protected work product under Rule 26(b)(3), SCRCp. (R. pp. 480-486). Respondent submitted a letter to the Circuit Court in response, arguing that the facts at issue in the September 11, 2025 Order were distinguishable from this case. (R. pp. 487-496).

IV. The Circuit Court grants Respondent’s Show Cause Motion without reviewing the redacted claim log notes, and Progressive Direct files a Motion to Alter or Amend.

On September 19, 2025, the Circuit Court entered an Order (the “Initial Order”) granting Respondent’s Show Cause Motion and compelling Progressive Direct to produce all log notes and materials in Progressive Direct’s claim file prior to April 7, 2025—almost a month after Respondent filed the lawsuit. This was more expansive than the relief requested by Respondent. The Initial Order also directed Progressive Direct to pay costs in the amount of \$500.00. (R. pp. 9-10). The Initial Order rejected Progressive Direct’s argument that claim log notes concerning coverage analysis and loss reserves are not relevant to the subject matter of the lawsuit, finding that information about the insurance coverage and reserves was discoverable because it was “relevant to Progressive’s investigation and evaluation of this claim.” (R. p. 3). However, the Circuit Court conspicuously did not find the information was relevant to the subject matter of this lawsuit and offered no explanation for how an insurance carrier’s analysis of whether there is coverage under an insurance policy or the amount of the carrier’s loss reserves is relevant to the

subject matter of a personal injury lawsuit against an insured driver arising from a motor vehicle accident and to which the insurance carrier is not a party—*especially when the subpoena specifically allowed Progressive Direct to redact that information*. (R. pp. 2-3).

The Initial Order relied solely on recitations of law from cases analyzing first-party insurance claims, but this case involves a very different third-party claim. The issues are not the same, and the Circuit Court failed to recognize that analysis of the issues here with a first-party claim does not apply to a third-party claim.

The Initial Order also held that claim log notes created after Progressive Direct received the Litigation Demand Letter are not protected from disclosure under Rule 26(b)(3), SCRCF, even though the Circuit Court never reviewed the redacted claim log notes. (R. pp. 3-8). The Initial Order misinterpreted Rule 26(b)(3), SCRCF. It also disregarded the facts that Respondent had specifically threatened litigation on February 18, 2026 and that Progressive Direct from that point forward was acting with knowledge that Respondent intended to file a lawsuit and then did file the lawsuit exactly as he said he would do. The Initial Order stated:

South Carolina law does not recognize any “work product” privilege for pre-litigation files created by insurance adjusters. Most insurance claims are settled without resort to litigation

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