RECEIVED

Aug 26 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Charles J. McCutchen, Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No.: 2025-CP-08-00820

Appellate Case No.: 2026-000301

Richard Kenneth Weatherford, JrRespondent,

v.

Timothy James Davidson, Defendant and Progressive Direct Insurance Company,
Third Party of which Progressive Direct Insurance Company is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Trip Riesen, SC Bar #71084
RIESEN DURANT, LLC
613 Long Point Road, Suite 100
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464
Phone: 843-800-0809

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

a. Progressive's February 18, 2025 cutoff was arbitrary.

The September 19, 2025 Order found that Progressive's blanket demand-letter cutoff lacked factual and legal support, and that conclusion is backed by Progressive's own admissions. South Carolina does not recognize a rule that receipt of a demand letter automatically renders all subsequent claim file materials protected work

product. As then Circuit Judge Garrison Hill explained in *Holder v. Lebo*, C.A. No. 2011-CP-23-4455 (C.P. Greenville Cty. Feb. 21, 2012) (Hill, J.), quoted by Judge McCutchen in the September 19, 2025 Order:

"[T]he phrase in anticipation of litigation means something more than the possibility that a lawsuit looms. Some courts have unthinkingly, blithely gestured to our 'litigious society' and waved on the conclusion that an insurance adjuster anticipates litigation with every breath"; "such a notion . . . cannot long withstand the scrutiny of reason." (*Holder v. Lebo*, C.A. No. 2011-CP-23-4455 (C.P. Greenville Cty. Feb. 21, 2012), quoted in Order Granting Rule to Show Cause, Sept. 19, 2025.) (R. p. 4, 222.)

The standard requires inquiry into whether each document was created with anticipated litigation as the primary motivating purpose, not whether a demand letter had arrived.

A useful guidepost adopted by courts in evaluating when anticipation of litigation genuinely begins is the date the insurer assigned the file to defense counsel, because a seasoned adjuster who genuinely anticipates litigation retains a lawyer without delay and does not continue unilaterally investigating without legal guidance. *Holder v. Lebo*, C.A. No. 2011-CP-23-4455 (C.P. Greenville Cty. Feb. 21, 2012) (Hill, J.); see also *Wikel v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 197 F.R.D. 493, 495 (N.D. Okla. 2000) ("[I]nvolvement of an attorney is a highly relevant factor" to the anticipation of litigation inquiry). (R. p. 4, 224.)

Respondent does not contend that work product protection requires attorney involvement. Rule 26(b)(3), SCRCP, extends protection to materials prepared by or for a party's insurer, consultant, or agent, without regard to whether counsel has been retained. But the absence of counsel remains highly probative evidence of an adjuster's purpose. As Judge Hill explained, "it is not necessary to have retained counsel to invoke protection of the work product doctrine," but "the point at which counsel was engaged is relevant" because a seasoned adjuster who genuinely

anticipates litigation "will not delay in hiring a lawyer." *Holder v. Lebo*, C.A. No. 2011-CP-23-4455 (C.P. Greenville Cty. Feb. 21, 2012) (Hill, J.). (R. p. 224.) Progressive's own decision not to retain counsel until March 24, 2025 is not, standing alone, dispositive, but it corroborates the objective indicia already in the record, continued settlement negotiations, routine investigatory conduct, and the absence of any litigation-specific activity until negotiations broke down on April 7.

Progressive did not retain defense counsel until purportedly March 24, 2025, more than five weeks after the February 18 cutoff it applied to its own claim log. (R. p. 141.) That delay, under this formulation, is evidence that Progressive itself did not genuinely anticipate litigation on February 18.

Progressive's argument reduces to this: the presence of *Tyger River* language in the demand letter proves anticipation as of February 18. That argument proves too much. *Tyger River* demand language is not specific evidence of anticipated litigation in this particular claim, it is boilerplate that appears in virtually every third-party automobile policy-limits demand in South Carolina. Every experienced adjuster processes this language routinely. Adopting Progressive's rule would effectively immunize claims investigation from discovery in virtually every South Carolina automobile tort case, precisely the result Judge Hill warned against. (*Holder v. Lebo*, C.A. No. 2011-CP-23-4455 (C.P. Greenville Cty. Feb. 21, 2012), quoted in Order Granting Rule to Show Cause, Sept. 19, 2025.)

The demand letter Progressive characterizes as creating an "objectively reasonable anticipation of litigation" was, on its face, a conditional offer of settlement,

not a threat of suit. The word "settlement" appears throughout the letter. (R. pp. 144, 148-149.) Its own closing paragraph states it was "submitted for settlement purposes only in this underlying claim." (R. p. 149.) The bad faith language Progressive emphasizes was conditional and prospective: it described what the letter would be used to establish only if Progressive refused to tender and only if a subsequent excess verdict were obtained against Davidson. That contingency had not triggered on February 18. It could only trigger if Progressive chose not to pay.

That is the critical point Progressive's brief omits entirely. Progressive controlled whether litigation would follow. A party that chooses the path leading to litigation cannot treat the moment it received the settlement offer as the moment it reasonably anticipated that litigation. Under Progressive's logic, every insurer that receives a Tyger River demand and declines to tender would automatically immunize its entire post-demand investigation from discovery, precisely because it chose to litigate rather than settle. Moreover, the lawsuit that followed named Davidson, not Progressive, as the defendant. Progressive was never sued. The bad faith exposure Progressive feared could arise only years later, after a verdict against Davidson exceeding policy limits and an assignment of Davidson's bad faith claim to Respondent, a remote, multi-step contingency that had not occurred and cannot be manufactured into an immediate anticipation of litigation on February 18, 2025.

b. Progressive continued routine claims handling after the demand.

The September 19, 2025 Order found that Progressive's adjusters communicated with Respondent's counsel on March 6, April 4, and April 7, 2025, all after this lawsuit was filed on March 10, 2025, and that these discussions confirmed

Progressive "remained in claims evaluation mode, not litigation preparation mode, until negotiations finally collapsed on April 7, 2025." (R. p. 8.) Progressive argues that simultaneous negotiation and anticipation of litigation can coexist, which is true as a general matter, but the question is what Progressive actually did on this claim. The record shows its adjusters were attempting to settle the case on specific dates after both the demand letter and the filing of the lawsuit. (R. pp. 119-120, 122.) Progressive adds that it transferred the claim to a "litigation adjuster" on February 18 as further proof of anticipated litigation. (Initial Br. of Appellant at 5.) But the same adjuster then continued negotiating settlement on March 6, April 4, and April 7. Whatever title Progressive attached to the assignment, the external conduct is what the September 19, 2025 Order correctly evaluated.

In *Brown v. Owens*, C.A. No. 2022-CP-39-01116 (C.P. Pickens Cty. Sept. 27, 2023) (Kinlaw, J.), Progressive and the same law firm now representing it made this identical argument before Judge Kinlaw, claiming a specific demand-letter date as the point at which the claim file became protected work product. Judge Kinlaw found that cutoff "arbitrary and contradicted by Progressive's own actions and words," because Progressive continued to investigate the claim, gather information, and negotiate with Respondent's counsel after receiving the demand. (*Brown v. Owens*, C.A. No. 2022-CP-39-01116 (C.P. Pickens Cty. Sept. 27, 2023).)¹ (R. p. 84.) Progressive received Judge Kinlaw's order on June 23, 2025, nearly two months before the August 20, 2025 hearing at which it pressed the identical argument again

¹ *Brown v. Owens*, C.A. No. 2022-CP-39-01116 (C.P. Pickens Cty. Sept. 27, 2023) (Kinlaw, J.), *Holder v. Lebo*, C.A. No. 2011-CP-23-4455 (C.P. Greenville Cty. Feb. 21, 2012) (Hill, J.), and *Currie v. Lackey*, Case No. 2024-CP-08-02427 (C.P. Berkeley Cty. June 9, 2025) (Culbertson, J.), are circuit court orders cited not as precedent but for the reasoning Judge McCutchen quoted and applied in the September 19, 2025 Order, and for the pattern they document: that substantially identical arguments were previously considered and rejected against Progressive and its counsel. (Order Granting Rule to Show Cause, Sept. 19, 2025.) As *Tobaccoville*, 387 S.C. at 294, 692 S.E.2d at 530, and Rule 26(b)(3), SCRPC, supply the binding legal standards, the circuit court orders serve only to illustrate their consistent application to facts materially identical to those presented here.

before Judge McCutchen, as Respondent's September 18, 2025 supplemental authority letter to Judge McCutchen confirmed. (R. pp. 70, 76.) The September 19, 2025 Order quoted *Brown v. Owens* and stated: "The circumstances in the present case mirror those in Owens. The same law firm representing Progressive in Owens is making these same arguments in the present case." (R. p. 5.) The same conclusion was reached by Judge Culbertson just weeks earlier, on June 9, 2025, in *Currie v. Lackey*, Case No. 2024-CP-08-02427 (C.P. Berkeley Cty. June 9, 2025) (Culbertson, J.), another Berkeley County case in which both the plaintiff's counsel and State Farm continued to investigate, analyze, and evaluate the claim after the offer of settlement letter. Judge Culbertson found the insurer's assertion that work product protection attached as of the settlement offer date "without merit" and ordered production of all pre-litigation claims file materials through the date defense counsel was retained. (*Currie v. Lackey*, Case No. 2024-CP-08-02427 (C.P. Berkeley Cty. June 9, 2025).) (R. p. 495.) A party that recycles a losing argument on materially identical facts, after receiving adverse rulings against itself and the same firm, cannot claim its position was substantially justified.

c. Selective production waived work product protection for the post-demand period.

Progressive represented that it produced 715 pages of claim file materials. Of those 715 pages, 554 were Respondent's own documents, medical records, bills, and correspondence produced back to Respondent in multiple copies. Progressive thus produced only approximately 161 pages of actual claim file material while simultaneously withholding claim log notes from the same period and holding out the 715-page figure as evidence of a full and good-faith production. Under *In re Martin Marietta Corp.*, 856 F.2d 619, 625 (4th Cir. 1988), selective disclosure constitutes selective waiver. The evidentiary support for this finding is Progressive's own production. (R. pp. 7, 59-67.)

d. The coverage and reserve order was correctly tailored.

Progressive characterizes the coverage-and-reserve ruling as ordering production of purely financial, proprietary information. That characterization misstates the order. The September 19, 2025 Order expressly permitted redaction of "pure financial reserves amounts unrelated to factual investigation." (R. p. 9.) What it required was coverage and reserve information bearing on Progressive's actual investigation of the claim, what adjusters learned about Davidson's conduct, his alleged impairment, and the factual basis for Progressive's coverage positions and changes in position. Rule 26(b)(1), SCRPC, extends to any matter "reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence." Coverage notes reflecting an adjuster's factual investigation are reasonably calculated to lead to admissible evidence about those same facts. The order's targeted permission to redact purely financial amounts demonstrates the care with which it was drawn.

IV. Progressive waived its in camera argument and cannot challenge the procedure it obtained and then refused to use

Progressive never requested in camera review before or during the August 20, 2025 hearing. It raised the argument for the first time in its Rule 59(e) motion, filed after Judge McCutchen ruled against it. Under *Floyd v. Thornton*, 220 S.C. at 425-26, 68 S.E.2d at 339, an argument withheld until after an adverse ruling is waived and not preserved for appeal. Progressive should have requested in camera review when it filed its response to Respondent's Motion and Rule to Show Cause, not after Judge McCutchen ruled against it. Rule 59(e) is not the vehicle for requesting new forms of relief that were available at the original hearing and simply not sought. "An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider." *Johnson v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009).

When Progressive did raise in camera review in its Rule 59(e) motion, Judge McCutchen granted the request. (R. pp. 18, 20-21.) The Amended Order required

Progressive to submit a privilege log to the Court and opposing counsel, the mechanism that makes document-by-document in camera review possible. Judge Van Slambrook's contempt order found that the Amended Order provided "the very relief Progressive sought in its Motion to Alter or Amend" and that "Progressive cannot claim justification for ignoring an accommodation it sought and received." (R. pp. 24, 26.) Under *Stokes-Craven* and *Halverson*, that finding is entitled to deference.

Progressive relies on *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 537, 787 S.E.2d 485, 495-96 (2016), for the proposition that a trial court abuses its discretion by resolving a privilege dispute without in camera review. That case does not require reversal or remand here for three independent reasons.

First, *Stokes-Craven* is factually inapposite. There, the trial court made a positive privilege determination while expressly noting it had "not received a privilege log of these communications," it was operating in a complete factual vacuum. Id. **Judge McCutchen's factual conclusions did not rest on the contents of the withheld documents. They rested on what Progressive did in the record: continued settlement discussions on specific dates; a blanket cutoff predating Progressive's own counsel's retention by five weeks; selective production from the same period as the withheld materials; and the *Brown v. Owens* pattern. None of those findings required reading the withheld documents.**

Second, *Stokes-Craven* does not create a sua sponte obligation to conduct in camera review regardless of what the parties requested. Because Progressive never raised the argument before the hearing, it is not preserved for appeal under *Floyd* and *Johnson*.

Third, remand for in camera review is moot. *Stokes-Craven* remanded with instructions to "conduct an in camera hearing, review the requested information, and issue a specific ruling." 416 S.C. at 537, 787 S.E.2d at 496. The Amended Order gave

Progressive exactly that remedy. Progressive refused it. **Judge Van Slambrook found privilege waived by that refusal.** (R. pp. 27-28.) **There are no surviving privilege claims to remand for review.**

Progressive's initial privilege log did not satisfy the Amended Order. It applied a blanket February 18 cutoff with no document-by-document analysis. Progressive's own Rule 59(e) motion disclosed that counsel was not retained until March 24, 2025, meaning materials withheld from February 18 through March 23 could not have been attorney-client privileged. (R. p. 141.) The Amended Order required a proper privilege log measured against the correct legal standard. Progressive refused to provide it.

Progressive's brief contains a footnote asserting Respondent failed to comply with Rule 45(a)(4), SCRCF, by not serving a copy of the subpoena on Davidson before serving it on Progressive. (Initial Br. of Appellant at 5, n.1.) This argument was never raised before the circuit court and is not preserved. *Floyd*, 220 S.C. at 425-26, 68 S.E.2d at 339. Davidson retained counsel, participated in discovery, and has actively defended this case since April 2025. No prejudice exists and no remedy is available.

V. Respondent independently demonstrated substantial need

Even if the withheld materials were work product, which they are not, Judge McCutchen correctly found Respondent independently demonstrated substantial need under Rule 26(b)(3), SCRCF. The Rule permits production of fact work product upon a showing of substantial need and inability to obtain the substantial equivalent without undue hardship.

Progressive's threshold argument, that the circuit court was required to determine whether the withheld entries were fact or opinion work product before considering substantial need, fails on the state of Progressive's own privilege log.

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